RECEIVED

04-29-2011

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2009AP001643-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

WILLIAM DINKINS, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

Review of a Court of Appeals Decision Reversing a Judgment of Conviction and a Postconviction Order Entered in the Dodge County Circuit Court, the Honorable Andrew P. Bissonnette, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STEVEN D. PHILLIPS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1017964

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8748 phillipss@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

For reasons which are explained below, Dinkins disagrees with the state's framing of the issue presented. Dinkins believes the issue to be properly stated as follows:

Does a prison inmate who does not know the address at which he will reside upon his release from prison violate the sex offender registration law by failing to report that address ten days before his release?

The trial court answered this question, "Yes."

The court of appeals ruled that one does not violate the statute if he is unable to reasonably predict the location of his future residence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following a bench trial conducted pursuant to the parties' stipulation, and based solely on evidence adduced at Dinkins' preliminary hearing, Dodge County Circuit Judge Andrew P. Bissonnette found William Dinkins, Sr., guilty of violating Wis. Stat. § 301.45 (2007-08), Wisconsin's sex offender registration law.¹ (31:18-19).

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.30, Dinkins filed a postconviction motion challenging his conviction. (32). The trial court denied that motion. (35; 39:21-23). Dinkins renewed his arguments in the court of appeals, which reversed the conviction and postconviction order. (The decision is included in Dinkins' Appendix at 101-17). This court granted the state's petition for review of the court of appeals decision.

The facts pertinent to this appeal were adduced at the preliminary hearing. Dinkins was convicted of sexual assault in Dodge County in February, 1999. (20:14-15). Because of that conviction, Dinkins was required to comply with the registration law. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1g)(a). Under this law, sex offenders must provide the Department of Corrections with certain information concerning their whereabouts and activities and must update that information as the statute specifies.

Dinkins had been sentenced to ten years in prison for the sexual assault. (20:16-17). The record suggests that Dinkins had been continuously incarcerated since his initial appearance for this crime on July 21, 1998. (20:16, 50-51). In any event, he was to have remained confined until his maximum discharge date of July 20, 2008, and he was to be released from the Oshkosh Correctional Institution on that date. (9:1; 20:21). Dinkins' imminent release triggered one of the statutory reporting requirements: that he provide ten days before his release from prison "the address at which [he]

¹ For the court's convenience, the entire text of Wis. Stat. § 301.45 is reprinted in the Defendant-Appellant's Appendix at 118-23.

. . . will be residing" upon that release. Wis. Stat. \$ 301.45(2)(a)5., (2)(d), and (2)(e)4.

On June 2, 2008, Lisa Gallitz, a parole agent who was assigned the task of notifying law enforcement agencies of Dinkins' impending release from prison, phoned Dinkins to inform him that under the Sex Offender Registration Program, he was required to provide his future address to the department before his release from prison. (20:22-23, 46-49).

Upon receiving this information, Dinkins told Gallitz that he planned to live with his daughter upon his release, but that he didn't know her current address and the phone number he had for her had been disconnected. (20:48). Gallitz's notes of the phone conversation reveal that Dinkins promised Gallitz that he would "continue to try to locate [his daughter] and or secure other housing." (8:1). After this conversation, Dinkins reiterated to his social worker, Myra Smith, that he wished to reside with his daughter, but that his letters to her had gone unanswered. (20:23). With Smith's help, Dinkins phoned the daughter the following day, but the phone was disconnected. (20:24). Dinkins tried calling his daughter's boyfriend, but was told that he had the wrong number. *Id*. He tried calling his ex-wife several times from the social worker's office, but received a busy signal. *Id*.

On the following day, June 4, 2008, Smith presented Dinkins with the department's standardized registration form. (20:24-25, 36; 9:1). Smith completed most of the form, obtaining necessary information from department records, and Dinkins signed the form that day. (20:25-26; 9:1). Due to the uncertainty concerning Dinkins' future living arrangements, Smith wrote on the form that the address of Dinkins' "residence" was "To be determined by agent," just as she had done before when an inmate did not have an approved residence. (20:28; 9:1). Smith testified that on such occasions, when a residence was found, the form would be updated. (20:28). Smith testified that she was relying on the agent to determine and approve Dinkins' residence, "essentially throwing the ball into their [sic] court." (20:41).

On June 10, 2008, Smith offered to help Dinkins by making phone calls in his behalf, but Dinkins declined the offer. (20:30). One week later, however, Dinkins asked Smith to help him call his ex-wife, but again, her line was Thereafter, Smith had contact with busy. (20:30-31).Dinkins on at least a weekly basis. When asked where he would be living upon his release, Dinkins always stated that he was waiting for a reply from his daughter, and that he could not imagine why she hadn't contacted him. (20:31). According to Smith, Dinkins was never able to provide "a specific street address, including a municipality, as to where he was going to live." (20:31-32). However, Smith conceded that between receiving the registration form and the projected release date, there was "some continued effort on [Dinkins'] part to try to find a residence." (20:40). As late as July 1, 2008, Dinkins was still seeking Smith's and Gallitz's assistance in attempting to reach his daughter by telephone. (8:3).

Lisa Gallitz did not speak directly with Dinkins after their June 2nd telephone conversation. (20:57, 59). Gallitz attempted to find Dinkins's daughter, Brianna Dinkins, by consulting CCAP, the white pages of the telephone directory, and police department records. (20:54-55). Another agent investigated several addresses in Fitchburg and Madison, and Gallitz left her business cards at two addresses in Sun Prairie, asking Brianna to contact her. But Gallitz did not receive a response to these communications. (20:55; 8:2). Gallitz obtained Brianna's phone number from Brianna's brother, and left messages for her at that number, but again received no response. (8:3). On July 7, 2008, Gallitz finally received another number for Brianna from Brianna's mother, who informed Gallitz that it was not feasible for Dinkins to live with Brianna because she had a three-year-old daughter. *Id*. On July 18, 2008, one day after Dinkins was charged with this offense, Brianna Dinkins finally called Gallitz, telling her that while she would like to have her father live with her, her fiancé did not agree to that arrangement, she had a three-yearold daughter, and their landlord would not let Dinkins live there. (20:58; 8:4).

While Gallitz discussed with her supervisor the possibility of Dinkins living at a homeless shelter in Madison or Dodge County, she didn't convey this suggestion or any other option to either Smith or Dinkins. (20:57, 59-60). Gallitz testified that she was not aware of any other options. (20:60).While the department had the responsibility to transport Dinkins to his residence upon his release from prison and to wait until a GPS monitor was hooked up, Gallitz believed that the department lacked the authority to do anything further because Dinkins would not be on supervision after his release from prison. (20:60-61). Although she had discussed the situation with her supervisor, the department's Regional Chief, and even the Secretary of the Department of Corrections, "nobody ever mentioned finding him housing." (20:61-62). Gallitz confirmed that "the onus was put on [Dinkins] to come up with a residence." (20:60).

Dinkins never amended the registration form to provide the department with any specific information concerning his future residence. (20:28). Three days before his scheduled release date, the state filed a criminal complaint charging him with violating Wis. Stat. § 301.45, for having failed to provide the address at which he would be residing upon his release from prison. (3). On July 18, 2008, Dinkins was transported directly from the Oshkosh Correctional Institution to the Dodge County Jail for his initial appearance on this charge. (1).

After reviewing the evidence adduced at the preliminary hearing, the trial court found Dinkins guilty as charged. (31:18-19). The court withheld sentence and placed Dinkins on probation for 30 months, with the condition that he serve 90 days in the county jail. (27; 31:34-37)

In his postconviction motion, Dinkins argued that Wis. Stat. § 301.45 required the state to prove that Dinkins knew the information that he was required to provide, in other words, that he knew where he would reside upon his release. (32). Dinkins contended that because the state did not prove this fact, the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction. *Id.* The trial court denied the motion. While conceding that Dinkins "has some pretty good arguments," the court ultimately decided, "I am going to side with the DOC saying, if you're a sex offender, you've got to find a place [to live]." (31:23).

The court of appeals reversed the trial court's ruling. Rejecting the state's argument that Dinkins, like every soonto-be-released sex offender, could have complied with the statute by providing the nearest address of any place where he planned to sleep, including a park bench, the court held that the term "residing" in § 301.45 "plainly does not encompass a park bench—or a heating grate, bush, highway underpass, or other similar on-the-street location." Slip op. at ¶¶ 2-3, 18.

Because "residing" was not defined in Wis. Stat. ch. 301, the court resorted to recognized dictionaries to give the term its ordinary meaning. \P 19. The court concluded that the term, as used in the statute, "means to live in a location for an extended period of time," and that the "on-thestreet" locations typically occupied by homeless persons do not satisfy that definition. \P 20.

Furthermore, the court concluded that when the term is read in conjunction with the requirement that the address be provided ten days in advance of the inmate's release from prison, "it is plain that the address provided by a soon-to-be-released prisoner like Dinkins must be one at which the prisoner can *reasonably predict* he will be able to reside." ¶ 21 (emphasis in original). The court declared, "Because it is undisputed that Dinkins lacked an address at which he could have reasonably predicted he would have been able to 'reside,' we therefore conclude that he could not be convicted of failing to comply with the address reporting requirement." ¶ 24.

ARGUMENT

Because Dinkins Did Not Know Where He Would Reside Upon His Release from Prison, He Did Not Violate the Sex Offender Registration Law When He Failed to Report the Address of His Future Residence Ten Days Before His Release.

Introduction and Summary of Argument

Contrary to the state's argument, there is no need for this court to decide whether homeless sex offenders are generally "exempt" from complying with the sex offender registration law or its reporting requirements. The court of appeals did not adopt such an "exemption," nor can one reasonably interpret its decision as producing that result. Likewise, Dinkins has never advocated the recognition of a "homeless exemption," and does not do so now.

By speaking in broad terms about a "homeless exemption" or a "homeless affirmative defense," the state implicitly asks this court to interpret the law in a manner that will cover all homeless sex offenders, regardless of their "Homeless sex offenders," however, do not situation. comprise a homogeneous group. "[N]ot all homeless people suffer from the same degree of instability in their living situation." State v. Iverson, 664 N.W. 2d 346, 353 (Minn. Each person who might be characterized as a 2003). "homeless sex offender" does not face identical obstacles in complying with the registration and reporting requirements. For example, some persons who might consider themselves to be "homeless," or who might be described by others as such, are able to live in a homeless shelter, in a motel, or with friends or relatives, even if only temporarily. Such persons do have a "residence" in the ordinary sense of the word, and are able to provide an address for that residence.

Two critical factors distinguish Dinkins from nearly all other sex offenders required to comply with the statute's reporting requirements. First, unlike those who are merely required to report where they are *currently* living, or those who have moved and are given a grace period for reporting when their address has changed, Dinkins was required to report ten days in advance where he would be residing upon his release from prison. Second, unlike those already in the community, who are likely more familiar with local residency restrictions and with local law enforcement's policies toward transients, and are able to investigate the locations at which sex offenders might potentially live, Dinkins, at the time he was required to report his future address, was still in prisonwhere he had been confined for the previous ten years. His confinement certainly curtailed not only his ability to secure a residence, but his ability to even learn where he might *potentially* live.

Thus, this case involves a rather unique fact situation, one which the state attempts to gloss over. The issue here is not whether *all* homeless sex offenders are to be "exempted" from the reporting requirements. The issue is much more narrow: whether this *particular* homeless sex offender, William Dinkins. Sr., violated § 301.45, when he failed to report ten days in advance of his release from prison where he would be residing upon that release, when it is undisputed that he hadn't yet secured a residence, and did not know where he would reside.

Well-settled principles of statutory construction support Dinkins' argument that a person in his unique position cannot be convicted of violating this statute by failing to report the address at which he will be residing without evidence that he knew, at the time he was required to make that report, where that residence would be. That is, the registrant's knowledge of the location of his future residence is a necessary element of this crime.

The state's arguments are based on three faulty assumptions. First, the state argues that because every person must live and sleep *somewhere*, every sex offender who is about to be released from prison is "inherently capable" of reporting in advance precisely *where* he will live and sleep. State's brief at 17, 33. While the premise is undoubtedly true, the conclusion doesn't logically follow from it. Many offenders likely do know in advance where they will live, but those—like Dinkins—who have been unable to secure a more conventional living arrangement, and are forced to seek an "on-the-street residence" certainly do not *inherently* know in advance where they will be able to live and sleep. Just as some people "don't know where their next meal is coming from," some don't know where their next home will be. Second, the state argues that one who does not know where he will live nonetheless "must choose to go somewhere to live and sleep," and because they must make that choice, policy considerations demand that the choice be reported ten days in advance. State's brief at 22-23. Dinkins will demonstrate that forcing an offender to essentially guess where he might eventually reside will actually undermine the statute's objectives.

Third, the state argues that a decision in Dinkins' favor will necessarily encourage other sex offenders to claim homelessness, thereby thwarting the laudable policy objectives promoted by the statute. State's brief at 22-28. Dinkins will demonstrate that the current statute, even if it is construed as Dinkins argues it should be, still enables law enforcement to track the location of an offender released from the prison into the community. To the extent that the current statute is regarded as deficient in this respect, the legislature can easily remove any perceived deficiency by enacting remedial measures which are specifically designed to effectuate the monitoring of homeless sex offenders, just like the measures enacted by many other state legislatures.

The evidence in this case is undisputed. The state failed to prove that Dinkins knew the location of his future residence at the time he was required to report that information to the department. His conviction must therefore be reversed.

A. Standard of review.

The issue in this case involves the construction of the sex offender registration statute and its application to a particular set of facts. The issue presents a question of law which this court reviews *de novo*. *Minutemen, Inc. v. Alexander,* 147 Wis. 2d 842, 853, 434 N.W. 2d 773 (1989).

A conviction will be reversed on insufficient evidence only if "the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so insufficient in probative value and force that it can be said as a matter of law that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 501, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

- B. The registrant must have knowledge of the information he is required to provide before he may be convicted of failing to provide that information.
 - 1. The plain language of the statute.

"Knowingly."

With certain exceptions not relevant to this appeal, Wis. Stat. § 301.45(6)(a)1 provides, "Whoever knowingly fails to comply with any requirement to provide information under subs. (2) to (4) is ... guilty of a Class H felony."

It is readily apparent that not all failures to provide information needed for the sex offender registry result in the commission of a crime. Only those who *knowingly* fail to provide the required information are culpable. The term "knowingly," however, is not defined in Chapter 301. Thus, the fundamental question in this appeal is, what does an offender need to "know" to make his failure to comply with the statute criminal?

The Jury Instructions Committee construes this statute to include three elements: (1) "The defendant was a person who was required to provide information under section 301.45;" (2) "The defendant failed to provide information as required;" and (3) "The defendant knowingly failed to provide the information." Wis JI-Criminal 2198 (2009). With respect to the latter element, the pattern instruction states, "This requires that the defendant knew that (he) (she) was required to provide the information." *Id*. The comments to the instruction do not explain how the Committee reached the determination concerning the third element, that the defendant need only know that he "was required to provide the information."

The Jury Instructions Committee is not infallible, and this court is therefore not required to accept its statutory interpretations. *State v. Beets*, 124 Wis. 2d 372, 383 n.7, 369 N.W.2d 382 (1985); *State v. Harvey*, 2006 WI App 26, ¶ 13, 289 Wis. 2d 222, 234, 710 N.W.2d 482. With all due respect to the Committee, it has incorrectly construed this statute. The state must prove not only that the offender knew he was required to *provide* the information, but also that he knew the *information* that he was required to provide.

The state argues that the Committee has correctly interpreted the statute, because Wis. Stat. § 939.23(2) provides, "'Know' requires only that the actor believes that the specified fact exists." However, § 939.23 applies "only to crimes defined in chs. 939 to 951." Wis. Stat. § 939.20. This offense is not such a crime.

Even if one applies § 939.23(2), however, the Committee's construction is erroneous. In *State v. Lossman*, 118 Wis. 2d 526, 348 N.W.2d 159 (1984), this court faced a similar issue of statutory construction. Lossman was charged with resisting or obstructing an officer, which was defined as "Whoever knowingly resists or obstructs an officer while such officer is doing any act in an official capacity and with lawful authority." Rejecting the court of appeals' determination that the statute on its face required knowledge only that one was resisting or obstructing an officer, this court concluded that the statute was unambiguous, and that the accused must also know both that the officer was acting in his official capacity and that he was acting with lawful authority. 118 Wis. 2d at 532-40. The court reasoned, "The belief requirement applies to all the specific facts which follow 'knowingly' in the statute." 118 Wis. 2d at 536. Applying the same reasoning here, "knowingly" requires knowledge of "the information" that the registrant must be "provide."

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