# **RECEIVED**

10-29-2009

# STATE OF WISCONSIN

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

#### **DISTRICT IV**

Case No. 2009AP1643-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM DINKINS, SR., Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND A POSTCONVICTION ORDER ENTERED IN DODGE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ANDREW P. BISSONNETTE, **PRESIDING** 

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

JAMES M. FREIMUTH **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1012732

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

With respect to the requirement of an objective enforcement standard, a penal statute must be sufficiently definite in its terms to enable "those who must enforce and apply the law [to] do so without creating or applying their own standards." *State v. Pittman*, 174 Wis. 2d 255, 276, 496 N.W.2d 74 (1993).

"If, by the ordinary process of statutory construction, [a reviewing court] can give a practical or sensible meaning to the statute, a criminal statute is not void for vagueness." *Hahn*, 221 Wis. 2d at 677.

## b. Application.

In the parlance of the test for procedural due process, the "address" reporting requirement of the sex-offender registration law both "'afford[s] proper notice of the conduct it seeks to proscribe [and] . . . provide[s] an objective standard for enforcement." *Nelson*, 294 Wis. 2d 578, ¶ 35.

**Proper notice.** Section 301.45 affords proper notice that, to avoid criminal liability, every soon-to-be-released sex offender must report to the DOC the "address at which [he] . . . will be residing. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)5.

As discussed, § 301.45(3)(b)2.-3. requires the DOC and the Department of Health Services to notify such offenders of "the need to comply" with the reporting requirements, and subd. 3m. directs the departmental official to provide a notification form that the offenders must sign.

All citizens "are presumptively charged with knowledge of the law," *Atkins v. Parker*, 472 U.S. 115, 130 (1985), and "[g]enerally a legislature need do nothing more than enact and publish the law, and afford the citizenry a reasonable opportunity to familiarize itself with its terms and to comply." *Texaco, Inc. v. Short*, 454 U.S. 516, 532 (1982).

As discussed, the "address" reporting requirement of § 301.45(2)(a)5. is articulated in straightforward language, and even those sex offenders who purport not to know where they will be residing upon release nevertheless know that they will have to live and sleep somewhere and must provide such location to the DOC by reference to an actual or a neighboring street address. statutory exemption for purported There is no See, e.g., Tobar, 284 S.W.3d at 136 "homelessness." (upholding a similar "address" requirement as not void for vagueness as applied to "homeless" sex offenders); cf. State v. Samples, 198 P.3d 803, 806-07 (Mont. 2008) (upholding a "changes residence" requirement as not void for vagueness as applied to "homeless" sex offenders).

There is a substantial difference between unconstitutional vagueness of a statutory provision and simple statutory ambiguity:

"A statute . . . is not void for vagueness because in some instances certain conduct may create a question about its impact under the statute. . . ., or because "there may exist particular instances of conduct the legal or illegal nature of which may not be ascertainable with ease."

*Nelson*, 294 Wis. 2d 578, ¶ 36 (citations omitted).

Moreover, it would be a simple proposition for a soon-to-be-released sex offender who purports not to know where he will be residing upon release simply to ask the departmental official about the "address" requirement when the notification is given – rather than simply ignoring it or assuming he has an exemption.

Objective standard of enforcement. Because the "address" reporting requirement does not allow for a "homelessness" exemption, it does not "encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement." City of Chicago v. Morales, 527 U.S. 41, 55 (1999). Rather, as discussed, it applies across-the-board to every soon-to-bereleased sex offender.

The onus is on every soon-to-be-released sex offender to provide the DOC with the offender's expected location by reference to an actual or a neighboring street address. Reporting "I don't know" or "To be determined" plainly says nothing about the offender's location upon release. Similarly, a sex-offender's broad reference to becoming located in a city or in a zip code would not refer to an actual or a neighboring street address (*see* Dinkins' brief at 19) – and, in any event, Dinkins did not even provide that type of information to the DOC.<sup>5</sup>

The "address" reporting requirement of the sexoffender registration law comports with due process – both substantively and procedurally – without requiring *the State* to prove that Dinkins actually knew where he expected to live and sleep upon release into the community.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Although the Georgia Supreme Court found the Georgia sex-offender registration statutes unconstitutionally vague as applied to "homeless" sex offenders (see Dinkins' brief at 20), the Georgia statutes defined "address" as "'the street or route address of the sex offender's residence," and the statutes specifically stated that "'homeless does not constitute an address." *Santos*, 668 S.E.2d at 678 (quoting the registration statutes).

D. The State adduced sufficient evidence to enable a reasonable jurist to find Dinkins guilty of violating the "address" reporting requirement of the sex-offender registration law.

#### 1. Governing principles.

In the present case, as noted, Dinkins proceeded to a court trial at which the parties agreed to use the record and exhibits of the preliminary hearing as the evidentiary record of trial (31:4-5, 17-18). The following principles govern the sufficiency of the evidence for conviction.

For a criminal conviction to satisfy due process, the State must prove each essential element of a charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *See State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 501, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990); *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 324 (1979). On review of a "sufficiency" challenge:

[A]n appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. If any possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial to find the requisite guilt, an appellate court may not overturn a verdict even if it believes that the trier of fact should not have found guilt based on the evidence before it.

*Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 507 (citation omitted).

Although the trier of fact must be convinced that the evidence is sufficiently strong to exclude every reasonable hypothesis of the defendant's innocence, this is *not* the test on appeal. *Id.* at 503. Rather:

In reviewing the sufficiency of circumstantial evidence to support a conviction, an appellate court need not concern itself in any way with evidence which might support other theories of the crime. An appellate court need only decide whether the theory of guilt accepted by the trier of fact is supported by sufficient evidence to sustain the verdict rendered.

Id. at 507-08.

In effect, review of a "sufficiency" challenge is "very narrow," and the reviewing court must "give great deference to the determination of the trier of fact." *State v. Hayes*, 2004 WI 80, ¶ 57, 273 Wis. 2d 1, 681 N.W.2d 203. In fact, the reviewing court "must examine the record to find facts that *support*" the guilty verdict. *Id.* (emphasis added).

Consequently, a reviewing court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the fact-finder relied on evidence that was "inherently or patently incredible." *State v. Tarantino*, 157 Wis. 2d 199, 218, 458 N.W.2d 582 (Ct. App. 1990).

"If more than one inference can reasonably be drawn from the historical facts presented at the trial, [the appellate court] accept[s] the inference drawn by the fact-finder." *State v. Routon*, 2007 WI App 178, ¶ 17, 304 Wis. 2d 480, 736 N.W.2d 530.

This deferential standard of review "is the same whether the fact-finder is the court or a jury." *Id.* (citation omitted).

### 2. Application.

Dinkins apparently does not dispute that if the charged crime of failing to comply with the "address" reporting requirement of the sex-offender registration law contains only the three elements set forth in the pattern jury instructions, then sufficient evidence was adduced to

support his conviction. To be clear, those three essential elements were satisfied at trial as follows:

First element. As the Dodge County Clerk of Circuit Court testified, Dinkins was convicted on February 4, 1999, in Dodge County Circuit Court of first-degree sexual assault of a child, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1) (see 20:14-15). As a result of that conviction, he "was required to provide information" to the DOC under Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1g)(a) (quoting Wis. JI-Criminal 2198).

Second and third elements. Dinkins failed to comply with Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(2)(a)5., (2)(d), and (2)(e)4., which together required him – no later than ten days before being released from prison at the expiration of his sentence – to provide the DOC with "the address at which [he] . . . will be residing" upon release (quoting Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)5.). And Dinkins "knowingly" failed to provide the required "address" information (quoting Wis. JI-Criminal 2198).

Dinkins received a ten-year prison sentence (20:17) and was required to serve his sentence to the maximum discharge date of July 20, 2008 (5:5, 8).

In February or March of 2008, Dinkins was given a "Reintegration Plan" form to complete (20:20, 34-35), and on May 28, 2008, he returned the form, refusing to indicate where he would live upon release (20:21, 47). Dinkins told Myra Smith, his social worker at Oshkosh Correctional Institution (20:18), that he would not provide that information, professing that the State could no longer control him after his maximum discharge date (20:21, 36).

On June 2, 2008, social worker Smith arranged a phone call between Dinkins and his probation-parole officer, Lisa Gallitz, to impress upon Dinkins that the sex-offender registration law required him to determine where he would live upon release and to report that determination to the DOC (8:1; 20:22-23).

On June 4, 2008, social worker Smith gave Dinkins the sex-offender registration form that Dinkins was required to fill out and submit to the DOC no later than ten days before his discharge from prison (9; 20:24-25, 36-37) – in effect, by July 10, 2008. Smith told Dinkins that he would be in violation of the law if he failed to provide an address (20:42-43), and Gallitz told Dinkins that he could be criminally charged (20:48). Both Smith and Gallitz also told Dinkins of the GPS requirement (20:43-44, 48).

Dinkins told Smith that he had hoped to live with his daughter upon release from prison, that he had written to her several times without reply, and that when he tried to phone his daughter, he learned that the daughter's phone number had been disconnected (20:23-24). Dinkins said he also tried, unsuccessfully, to phone his ex-wife and his daughter's boyfriend (20:24, 31).

Because Dinkins had been unable to report an address where he would be living upon release, Smith said she wrote the words "To be determined by Agent" for Dinkins' address on the sex-offender registration form (9:1; 20:28, 40-41).

Smith said Dinkins declined her offer on June 10, 2008, to help him find a living arrangement (20:30), and that between June 17 and July 20, 2008, she weekly reminded Dinkins of the need to find a living arrangement (20:31-32). Both Smith and Gallwitz tried to located Dinkins' daughter (20:28-29, 54-55), and when they finally did, the daughter said Dinkins could not live with her, because she had a small child and her fiancé was against it (20:58).

Because Dinkins never provided any address to the DOC by July 10, 2008, the DOC requested prosecution (3:3), which was commenced by complaint filed July 17, 2008 (*see* 3:1).

The purported fourth ("actual knowledge") element. Dinkins' sufficiency challenge rests entirely on his argument that the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt a fourth ("actual knowledge") element – that is, that Dinkins actually knew where he would be residing upon release from prison at the expiration of his sentence (Dinkins' brief at 25-30).

For the reasons discussed, the State was not required to prove such an "actual knowledge" element. Moreover, Dinkins actually knew he would be living and sleeping somewhere upon leaving prison – whether in a house, in a motel, at a shelter, or on a park bench, all capable of reference to an actual or a neighboring street address. Dinkins knew he had to provide that information to the DOC no later than ten days before his release, but failed to do so.

Contrary to the implication of Dinkins' argument at pages 26-30 of his brief, the State did not prosecute and convict Dinkins for the status of being "homeless." Rather, Dinkins was properly prosecuted and convicted for failing to provide the DOC with the address where he would be living and sleeping upon release from custody. Once Dinkins exits the prison gates, he necessarily has to go somewhere to live and sleep. Subject to Wis. Stat. § 301.48 and any community restrictions, Dinkins is free to choose that location, and the sex-offender registration statute reasonably requires him to make that choice in advance of his release and to report it to the DOC by reference to an actual or a neighboring street address. If it were otherwise, sex offenders could circumvent the "address" reporting requirement with impunity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Because sex offenders may face *legal* obstacles to residency – such as § 301.48 or community ordinances – a sex offender who reports an address to the DOC that proves to be *legally* impossible to maintain presumably cannot and should not be subject to prosecution. *Cf. Dalton*, 960 F.2d at 124. That proposition is distinct, however, from Dinkins' argument based on the false premise that, factually, he could not report an "address," because he did not know where he would live and sleep.

# II. A NEW TRIAL IS NOT WARRANTED IN THE INTEREST OF JUSTICE.

Introduction. Alternatively, in Argument III. of his brief, Dinkins requests a new trial in the interest of justice on grounds that the real controversy was not fully tried (Dinkins' brief at 30). Dinkins asserts that the real controversy was not fully tried, because the pattern jury instructions failed to advise the trial court, as fact-finder, of the purported fourth ("actual knowledge") element – that is, that Dinkins actually knew where he would be residing upon release from prison at the expiration of his sentence. For additional reasons that follow, this court also should reject Dinkins' request for a new trial.

Analysis. Under Wis. Stat. § 752.35, the court of appeals may exercise discretion to determine whether reversal is warranted in the interest of justice in either of two situations: when the real controversy has not been fully tried, or when it is probable that justice has for any reason miscarried. See Vollmer v. Luety, 156 Wis. 2d 1, 19, 456 N.W.2d 797 (1990). The principal difference between these two standards is that in the "real controversy" situation, unlike the "miscarriage of justice" situation, "it is unnecessary for an appellate court to first conclude that the outcome would be different on retrial." Vollmer, 156 Wis. 2d at 19.

Application of the "real controversy" prong of the interest-of-justice test has been limited, however, to evidentiary errors, where either: (1) "the jury was erroneously not given the opportunity to hear important testimony that bore on an important issue of the case;" or (2) "the jury had before it evidence not properly admitted which so clouded a crucial issue that it may be fairly said that the real controversy was not fully tried." *State v. Hicks*, 202 Wis. 2d 150, 160, 549 N.W.2d 435 (1996).

Dinkins' does not assert any evidentiary error in the present case, and in any event, his reliance on *State v*.

Perkins, 2001 WI 46, 243 Wis. 2d 141, 626 N.W.2d 762, is misplaced. The vitality of *Perkins* is doubtful in the wake of *State v. Gordon*, 2003 WI 69, ¶ 40, 262 Wis. 2d 380, 663 N.W.2d 765, in which the Wisconsin Supreme Court followed the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1 (1999), and held that omission of instruction on an element *can* be harmless error where the element was never in dispute.

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